NO. 2008-KA-01098-COA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI



TYRONNE LEKEITH WADE Defendant – Appellant

v.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI Plaintiff – Appellee

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi First Judicial District

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

(Oral Argument is not Requested)

ALVIN CHASE
Attorney for Appellant
10345 D'Iberville Blvd, Ste D
Biloxi, Mississippi 39540
Telephone: (228) 396-3300
Facsimile: (228) 396-1494

MS Bar No. 5968

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

TYRONNE LEKEITH WADE Defendant - Appellant,

V.

NO. 2008-KA-01098-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI Plaintiff - Appellee

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE: Whether the circuit court judge erred in denying Wade's motion to suppress evidence and dismiss indictment because the marijuana discovered following an illegal stop of Wade's vehicle or after said stop turned into an unlawful detention of Wade when the initial reason for the stop had concluded.

STATEMENT OF CASE

On November 13, 2006, Appellant, Tyronne LeKeith Wade (hereinafter referred to as "Wade" or "Appellant"), was traveling from Texas to North Carolina. Wade was traveling alone and was driving a rental car, a Dodge Magnum, which had a temporary license tag from Alabama on it. Harrison County Deputy Sheriff William Senseney (hereinafter referred to as "Senseney") initiated a traffic stop on Wade, on eastbound Interstate 10 in Harrison County near the 23-mile marker on November 13, 2006, at about 1013 hours. The stop was initiated because Senseney did not see a tag displayed on the tag holder of the vehicle. Upon making the stop and exiting his patrol vehicle, Senseney walked toward Wade's vehicle and observed a temporary Alabama tag on the rear window of the Dodge Magnum. Senseney testified the original purpose of the stop was for the sole purpose of writing a warning citation for an improper display of a license tag. T.5, 7, 8. He stated it took approximately five minutes to complete the warning citation (T.18) and upon completing it, he sought consent from Wade to search the vehicle. T.11. That consent was denied. Senseney then called for a canine unit, but the time of the call is not clear, even though he suggests it was done after Wade refused to consent to a search at 1027 hours. Senseney then detained Wade until a drug detecting dog could arrive on scene and conduct a sniff around the exterior of the vehicle.

Officer Tim Huguet ("Huguet"), the canine handler, arrived on the scene. He estimated he arrived about five minutes after receiving the call for assistance, but he

¹ The official record on appeal ("R") consists of three (3) volumes, two of which are transcripts of the motion hearing and the bench trial. References to the transcript is cited as "T.[page number]" and references to other portions of the record is cited as "R.[page number]". References to Records Excerpts are cited as "R.E. [tab number]".

wasn't sure. T.42-43. When he received the call he was at some other point in Harrison County on the day in question. T.42. Senseney testified that he believes he called for the canine assistance around 1027 hours after Wade exercised his constitutional right to refuse to consent to a search. Upon Huguet's arrival with his canine, Robby, until the time the sniff of the exterior started about two or three minutes passed.

Senseney had learned, observed, or concluded several things upon making contact with Wade after the traffic stop but before Robby, the drug-sniffing canine, arrived.

They are as follows: 1) he saw a temporary tag in the rear tinted and dirty window of the vehicle; 2) he saw Wade's hands shaking and he considered Wade to be nervous; 3) there was a Bible, rosary beads, and a military style dog tag in the vehicle; 4) he noticed what he considered to be a strong odor of air freshener in the vehicle; 5) that Wade was traveling from Beaumont, Texas to North Carolina, but had rented the car in Harlingen,

Texas, thus causing Senseney to think this was odd; 6) Wade supposedly gave different statements about visiting his sick or dying uncle and where he (Wade) was traveling from; and 7) Wade had been arrested in June 2006 in Livingston Parish, Louisiana. T.6-

The canine sniff of Wade's vehicle resulted in a positive alert for the presence of a controlled substance. Upon further search of the vehicle, several bundles of marijuana were discovered in suitcases inside the vehicle. Senseney arrested Wade for the possession of marijuana with the intent to transfer or distribute the said controlled substance.

Wade was indicted on that charge by the Harrison County Grand Jury on June 11. 2007. On March 26, 2008, Wade filed a motion to suppress evidence and dismiss the indictment alleging his constitutional rights had been violated and the marijuana found in his vehicle was illegally seized. Wade also alleged he was unlawfully detained by Senseney and any statements obtained during the stop should also be suppressed. A hearing on the motion to suppress was held on April 1, 2008. The trial judge allowed the parties to submit letter briefs prior to making a final ruling on the motion. The State's letter brief is at (R.32-35) (R.E. 3) and Wade's letter brief is at (R.36-44) (R.E. 4). On April 23, 2008, the trial judge entered an order denying the motion to suppress the evidence and dismiss the indictment. A bench trial followed on May 1, 2008, and at the conclusion of the trial, the trial judge found Wade guilty of possession of controlled substance with intent to transfer or distribute. The trial judge sentenced Wade to twenty (20) years, with ten (10) suspended, leaving ten (10) years to serve in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, followed by five (5) years of post-release supervision.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issue presented in this case is whether the circuit court judge erred in denying Wade's motion to suppress evidence and dismiss the indictment the stop was an illegal stop because Wade had not violated any Mississippi traffic laws in Senseney's presence. If the stop initially was legal, once Senseney concluded the reason for the stop, Wade was illegally detained and thus the marijuana discovered after the traffic stop was

obtained during an unlawful detention. Sufficient time had elapsed after the issuance of the warning ticket to Wade until the start of the canine sniff to transform the stop to an illegal detention and thus an illegal search and seizure. Holding or detaining Wade beyond the issuance of the warning ticket without any legitimate reasons for suspecting Wade then and there had possession of controlled substances constituted an illegal detention and all subsequent search and seizure of controlled substances in Wade's vehicle was illegal requiring the evidence to be suppressed.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE RESTATED:

Whether the circuit court judge erred in denying Wade's motion to suppress evidence and dismiss indictment because the marijuana discovered following an illegal stop of Wade's vehicle or after said stop turned into an unlawful detention of Wade when the initial reason for the stop had concluded.

A. <u>STANDARD OF REVIEW</u>

This Court must reverse the lower court's ruling on Wade's motion to suppress if the Court finds the marijuana was discovered during an illegal search, rendering its seizure illegal and inadmissible during a trial.

Carney v. State, 525 So.2d 776, 785 (Miss. 1988). Thus, this Court should examine carefully "the legality of the particular intrusions which enabled

the police to see this marijuana to determine if these intrusions were outside the legitimate scope [of the police's authority]." Gonzales v. State, 963 So.2d 1138, 1140 (Miss. 2007), (citing, Carney v. State, 525 So.2d 776, 785 (Miss. 1988).

B. ARGUMENT OF ISSUE

1. Legality and propriety of the initial stop

The initial stop of Wade's vehicle was improper and illegal.

The vehicle Wade was driving had a tag in plain view in the rear window of the vehicle and therefore Senseney had no reasonable suspicion that the vehicle had no tag.

Senseney could have, as a practical matter, determined the car had a tag on it by merely driving behind and to the left of the vehicle as they both traveled along the interstate.

There was no necessary reason to stop the vehicle. Because of this lack of probable cause to believe Wade had violated rules of the road that are also recognized as a legal basis to stop a motorist, the marijuana subsequently seized as a result of the illegal stop should have been suppressed.

The evidence shows this stop was made in the daylight hours at about 1013 hours. Senseney testified he could see the tag displayed in the rear window of the car when he approached it from the rear. T.5. He recognized the car had an Alabama tag on it. T.5. Senseney had no authority to enforce Alabama license tag laws as the car was apparently properly registered in Alabama and not in Mississippi. Under the Mississippi Driver License Compact Law, the State of Mississippi is required to report violations of Mississippi traffic laws and ordinances committed in Mississippi by out-of-state

motorists to those motorists' home state. Miss. Code Ann. § 63-1-101 *et seq*. The interstate compact can not be interpreted in a manner to render Wade's failure to comply with Mississippi's license plate requirements on the rental car he drove which was apparently properly registered in Alabama as a violation of Mississippi law².

Mississippi license plate statute does not apply to the vehicles registered in another state; however, that statute does apply to vehicles registered in Mississippi. Miss. Code Ann. § 27-19-31. Wade's rental vehicle was not registered in Mississippi, but was apparently properly registered in Alabama. Even the special in-transit tags for rental vehicles described in the Mississippi laws pertain to vehicles purchased by a rental company from a dealer in Mississippi. Miss. Code Ann. § 27-19-40(4). There is nothing to suggest the vehicle Wade was driving had been purchased by the car rental company from an automobile dealer in Mississippi.

Simply put, Wade did not violate any Mississippi statute or regulation as pertaining to the display of the license tag on the rental vehicle. Senseney, as a sheriff deputy, undoubtedly had authority as a law enforcement officer to enforce the criminal and traffic laws of this state and ordinances of the county, but that does not give him authority to enforce the laws of Alabama pertaining to license plates on vehicles registered in Alabama. Miss. Code Ann. § 45-6-3(c). Wade did not violate any Mississippi traffic law warranting and authorizing a stop of his vehicle. Even if Senseney mistakenly believed Wade violated Mississippi law, that mistake was not reasonable.

² Senseney did not cite Wade for any traffic violation, *i.e.*, any moving violations. The citation issued was a warning citation according to Senseney. This fact alone (issuing only a warning violation) strongly indicates Senseney knew he had no authority to enforce Alabama laws pertaining to the proper display of license plate on an automobile registered in Alabama.

Senseney should have exercised proper discretion upon recognizing the vehicle had an Alabama tag on it and immediately allowed Wade to leave, even without giving him a warning citation³.

The Fifth Circuit rejected the notion that although a detained motorist had Not actually violated any law, the evidence of contraband seized should be admissible as a good faith exception. See, United States v. Lopez-Valdez, 178 F.3d 282, 287-89 (5th Cir. 1999). The court in *Lopez-Valdez* reasoned that allowing officers to stop vehicles on the basis of their subjective belief that a traffic violation has occurred, when in fact there was no violation, creates the potential for abuse of traffic violations as pretext for making stops to the point of being uncontrollable. Id. at 289. It is much more egregious to allow a law enforcement officer stop a vehicle apparently properly displaying a license tag issued by another state when there is no traffic violation to serve as the probable cause for the stop. Allowing such conduct by police officers opens the door for serious abuse of license plate violations as a pretext for making stops to the point that any motorists driving a vehicle with an out-of-state tag could be stopped without any moving or traffic violation. It can hardly be said with a straight face that stopping a motorist for an alleged license tag violation of another state constitutes a good-faith exception to the laws and case law concerning stopping motor vehicles. The Court, in the case under review.

³ Wade should have been allowed to continue his travel without any undue delay. This is similar to an inadvertent whistle blown by a referee in the game of basketball. In that instance, the referee admits the whistle was inadvertent and the play resumes immediately. Likewise, Senseney should have merely told Wade that he initially could not see the tag, but saw it upon approaching the vehicle. He could have perhaps suggested Wade dust the window and then allowed Wade to leave and continue his travel.

should declare the initial stop illegal and without probable cause and suppress the illegally seized evidence.

2. Assuming the stop was legal, it transformed into an illegal detention

Despite the legality of the initial stop, once the purpose of the stop concluded Wade should have been allowed to leave because no probable cause or reasonable suspicion existed to further detain Wade. At the least, the Court should hold that any time beyond what was necessary and reasonable to issue a warning ticket from the time of the stop was and an illegal and unlawful detention and seizure of Wade's person and the evidence of the contraband should be held inadmissible at a trial. Wade's conviction should be reversed and rendered.

The United States Supreme Court has held a seizure (detention of the person) that is lawful at its inception can violate the Fourth Amendment if its manner of execution unreasonably infringes interests protected by the Constitution. *United States v. Jacobsen*, 466 U.S. 109, 124 (1984). In *Couldery v. State*, 890 So.2d 959 (Miss.App. 2004), the Mississippi Court of Appeals held that, in a situation where the totality of the circumstances were much similar to the instant case,

[E]ven if the stop was proper, Officer Vincent should have ticketed Couldery and left him to journey home. Nothing in the record supports a finding that Vincent was justified in further detaining Couldery beyond the ordinary scope of a brief traffic stop. Accordingly, the trial court erred in denying Couldery's motion to suppress all contraband discovered as a result of the search.

Id. at 968. That case, as does the case at bar, involved a dog sniff and subsequent search. The important principle gleaned from that case is once the reason for a lawful stop has concluded, officers can not legally detain the defendant to conduct an illegal search or to obtain reasonable suspicion or probable cause for a warrantless search such as allowing a drug-detecting dog to sniff the exterior of the defendant's vehicle. Couldery v. State, 890 So.2d 959 (Miss.App. 2004). The reasonable suspicion must exist before the illegal detention or seizure begins, i.e., the reasonable suspicion must exist during the lawful detention.

The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals has addressed Fourth Amendment challenges to searches following a traffic stop and analyzes "the legality of traffic stops for Fourth Amendment purposes under the standard articulated in *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, (1968)." *See, United States v. Dortch*, 199 F.3d 193 (5th Cir. 1999). In *Dortch*, the Fifth Circuit held that the legality of an investigatory stop turns on "whether the officer's action was justified at its inception, and whether it was reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which justified the interference in the first place." *Id.* at 198 (*citing, United States v. Shabazz*, 993 F.2d 431, 435 (5th Cir. 1993). The court in *Dortch* noted that during a valid traffic stop officers are permitted to check the driver's license, vehicle registration and rental agreement. *Dortch* at 198. The trial judge must make the reasonable-suspicion determination after evaluating the "totality of the circumstances" of each case to determine if the detaining officer has a "particularized and objective basis" for suspecting legal wrongdoing. *United States v. Grant*, 349 F.3d 192, 197, (5th Cir.

2003), (citing, United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 273 (2002). In Dortch, the court found the defendant's Fourth Amendment rights were violated when the detention extended beyond the completion of the computer check. The basis for the initial traffic stop had concluded and the officers lacked reasonable suspicion to detain the defendant beyond the scope of the traffic stop. Dortch, at 198. The court went on to say that once the law enforcement purposes of ensuring a rental vehicle was not stolen and that there were no outstanding warrants for the driver, the continued or "extended detention became an unreasonable seizure, because it was not supported by probable cause. To hold otherwise would endorse police seizures that are not limited to the scope of the officer's reasonable suspicion and that extend beyond a reasonable duration." Dortch, at 199. The gist of Wade's argument is not that the time (however short or long) from the expiration of the reason for the initial stop to the arrival of the canine was an unreasonable delay, but it was instead an illegal detention and seizure of Wade's person which started the moment the reason for the initial stop was completed assuming the initial stop was legal, i.e., to write a warning ticket because Senseney could not see the tag. The reasonableness of a delay or detention in terms of length of time can always vary, but the illegality of an unlawful detention or seizure based on expiration of the reason for the initial stop starts at a definite moment. There is no gray area in when the illegal seizure begins in such a case. In fact, there's a burning bright line between the expiration of the reason for the initial stop and the start of the illegal seizure in such a case.

In completing the analysis of whether Senseney detained Wade beyond the scope of the traffic stop and without reasonable suspicion or probable cause, the Court should

realize "the critical event is the time the officer developed reasonable suspicion to turn the initial traffic stop into a search for contraband." Grant, at 197. Wade contends Senseney never developed reasonable suspicion even though he turned the initial traffic stop into a search for contraband almost immediately after the stop. Senseney accused Wade of being nervous; hiding drugs because he had a Bible, rosary beads, air freshener, and a rental agreement showing he rented the vehicle in Harlingen, Texas but had stated he was traveling from Beaumont, Texas to North Carolina; and giving what Senseney considered different statements about visiting his sick uncle. Senseney never received information that the car was stolen or that there were active warrants for Wade's arrest. He did, however, receive information that Wade had an arrest in Louisiana in June 2006, (some five months prior to the date of the stop by Senseney). Senseney had already gathered his intelligence from the criminal history check before he sought consent to search, but yet, no probable cause existed to seize Wade and, accordingly, Senseney should have allowed Wade to go on his way.

Perhaps Senseney thought he developed reasonable suspicion when he got the last bit of information that Wade had a previous arrest. Nothing singularly or combined with other bits of information gave rise to or constituted reasonable suspicion or probable cause to further detain Wade. Senseney did not make objective reasonable inferences from the information he had. Possessing a Bible and rosary beads while traveling on an interstate highway is not indicative that one is trafficking in drugs. Wade has a right under the freedom of religion clause of the First Amendment to travel with such items—they are not contraband items. If they were contraband and were in plain view, that

would have satisfied the reasonable suspicion or probable cause requirement. It is not reasonable to infer Wade's possession of the Bible and rosary beads means he had drugs in his car. Additionally, the presence of the air freshener in the vehicle does not support reasonable suspicion or probable cause to seize Wade. Plenty of car owners and drivers enjoy the freshened air an air freshener can provide. Reasonable suspicion is not established simply because Wade had rented the car in one city but was coming from a different city at the time Senseney stopped him. The evidence presented at the hearing does not support that Wade was trying to hide something by renting the car from the city he did. Further, the evidence doesn't show that Harlingen and Beaumont, Texas are drug supplying cities. The rental arrangement and where Wade was coming from does not logically lead to the conclusion Wade was trafficking drugs. Each bit of information Senseney claimed he considered in concluding further detention was necessary, standing alone and taken together, including alleged rental agreement issue⁴, under the totality of circumstances did not give rise to reasonable suspicion that Wade was trafficking drugs. Senseney improperly focused his investigation on detecting the presence of drugs even before being denied consent to search Wade's vehicle. He violated Wade's constitutional rights after reasonable time expired in which to issue the warning citation because he had failed to establish legal probable cause to further detain and seize Wade. Senseney had only mere suspicion and not reasonable suspicion.

⁴ Senseney's testimony on cross-examination during the motion hearing clearing defeats the contention that Wade gave different stories concerning where he was coming from. Senseney simply improperly concluded Wade was lying because Wade told Senseney he was coming from Beaumont and did not state he rented the car in Harlingen. T.22-23. Wade answered the question Senseney asked: where are you coming from, T.8.

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