IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TYRONNE LEKEITH WADE

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1098-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LISA L. BLOUNT

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's denial of Wade's motion to suppress evidence should be affirmed. Deputy Senseney had probable cause to believe that a traffic violation occurred when he stopped Wade's vehicle because he could not see a license plate on the vehicle.

Wade was not illegally detained or unreasonably delayed during the short time it took for the canine unit to arrive at the scene. Based upon the facts as testified to by Deputy Senseney and his training and experience, he had reasonable suspicion to believe Wade was involved in criminal activity and further investigation was warranted. Once the drug dog "alerted," probable cause to search the vehicle was established.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. Senseney's initial traffic stop was legal.

In his first assignment of error, Wade argues that the trial court erred by failing to suppress the marijuana found during a search of his vehicle because the initial traffic stop was illegal. Simply put, Wade argues that even though Deputy Senseney may not have seen a valid tag on Wade's car, Senseney did not have probable cause to stop him and therefore the evidenced seized should have been suppressed. According to Wade, probable cause to stop his car did not exist because Mississippi car tag laws did not apply to his rental car registered in Alabama. Wade went on to claim Deputy Senseney, being a Harrison County law enforcement officer, could not legally stop the car for failure to have a tag.

In criminal appeals, a presumption of correctness attaches to any ruling by the trial court. *Carr v. State*, 592 So.2d 114, 127 (Miss.1991). When reviewing a trial court's ruling on a suppression hearing, an appellate court must assess whether substantial credible evidence supports the trial court's finding, considering the totality of the circumstances. *Jaramillo v. State*, 950 So.2d 1104 (Miss.Ct.App.2007). The admissibility of evidence lies withing the trial court's discretion and will only be reversed if this discretion is abused. *Crawford v. State*, 754 So.2d 1211, 1215 (Miss.2000).

The trial court's denial of Wade's motion to suppress evidence should be affirmed. Deputy Senseney had probable cause to believe that a traffic violation occurred when he stopped Wade's vehicle for failure to have a tag in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 27-19-323 and Miss. Code Ann. § 27-29-40. The action of an

officer stopping a vehicle is reasonable when there is "probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred." *Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 810, 116 S.Ct. 1769, 135 L.Ed.2d 89 (1996).

Senseney testified he did not see a license plate on the vehicle when it passed him and he stopped it for that reason. T. 5-13. Mississippi Code Annotated section 27-19-323 (Rev. 2006) provides that vehicles operated on Mississippi's highways must have tags "conspicuously displayed on the vehicle being operated in such a manner that it may be easily read." Even if Wade's car had a valid tag, it was not "conspicuously displayed." It was within Deputy Senseney's authority to pull Wade over to check for a tag, and to check the expiration of the tag (if found) or to see if the tag was valid or the car stolen. Gonzales v. State, 963 So.2d 1138, (Miss. 2007). It is true that there was a temporary tag affixed to the inside of the rear window, but Sensengey did not know this until after the stop. The rear window was dirty and heavily tinted, as seen in Exhibit S-1 and S-9. In addition to being in possession of a valid tag, Wade was required under Mississippi law to conspicuously display it so that it could be easily read, even though the car was registered in Alabama. The tag was not conspicuously displayed, having been put behind a tinted window and it could not be easily read. T. 5.

The issue of stopping a car for failure to have a tag was recently addressed in *Gonzales*, a case directly on point and almost identical in facts to Wade's traffic stop. In *Gonzales*, a trooper stopped a vehicle for no tag. After obtaining consent to search the vehicle, the officer found sixty pounds of marijuana inside. In a motion to suppress, Gonzales contended the officer lacked reasonable suspicion to stop the

vehicle because there was a valid, temporary tag taped in the back window, therefore the evidence obtained in the subsequent search was inadmissible. Even though there was a tag in the rear window, the Mississippi Supreme Court held the officer had reasonable suspicion to stop the vehicle because the vehicle did not appear to have a tag in plain view. The Court held the statute governing exhibition of dealer tags and the statute regulating "special in-transit tags" required not only the existence of a valid tag, but also that the tag be displayed in plain view. Gonzales, like the defendant sub judice, was driving a rental car with dark tinted, dirty windows, making it difficult to see or read the tag placed inside the rear window. See Exhibits S-1, S-9.

Wade's reliance on *U.S. v. Lopez-Valdez* 178 F.3d 282, 287-89 (5th Cir.1999) is unavailing, insofar as it is factually distinguishable. In *Lopez* the officer stopped a vehicle on the mistaken belief that the broken taillight violated state law. In the case *sub judice*, Sensengey did not mistake state law in stopping Wade.

Even if this Court were to decide that Mississippi law did not apply to the Alabama rental car, or that the exhibition of the tag under the circumstances here met the requirements of Mississippi law, Deputy Sensengey's act in stopping the vehicle was reasonable. Senseney did not see a tag when he stopped the vehicle. His actions were objectively reasonable under these circumstances. *Harrison v. State*, 800 So.2d 1134 (Miss. 2001). A law enforcement officer may stop a vehicle where he has probable cause to believe that a violation of law has or is occurring. *Walker v. State*, 962 So.2d 39 (Miss.App.,2006). The question of whether probable cause existed is analyzed by considering what the officer saw or knew at the time he made a stop. The fact that he might later find that he was in error as to facts he thought existed does not

of itself mean he was not in possession of probable cause.

Once Sensengey stopped the car, he had a duty to check the driver's license, validity of the tag, verify that the vehicle was insured and the insurance card in the vehicle. Pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated section 16-53-4 every vehicle operated on Mississippi roads shall have liability insurance and have an insurance card in the vehicle; and "upon stopping a motor vehicle.... for any other statutory violation, a law enforcement officer, who is authorized to issue traffic citations, *shall* verify that the insurance card required by this section is in the motor vehicle."

As more fully discussed in the State's argument to Issue II, which is adopted herein, after the stop, Senseney developed reasonable suspicion of criminal activity that warranted further investigation.

The record contains ample credible evidence to support the trial court's denial of Wade's motion to suppress the evidence. It cannot be said that the trial court abused its discretion.

II. Wade was not illegally detained.

In his next assignment of error, Wade maintains a violation of his Fourth Amendment rights. He claims there was an illegal detention and seizure of his person which started the moment Senseney completed writing the warning ticket, the reason for the initial stop.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals spoke to this issue in *Tate v. State*, 946 So.2d 376 (Miss.App.,2006).

The Fourth Amendment protects individuals from unreasonable searches and seizures. *U.S. v. Grant*, 349 F.3d 192, 196 (5th Cir.2003). Traffic stops are considered to be seizures within the

meaning of the Fourth Amendment. Id. Because a traffic stop more closely resembles an investigative detention than a formal arrest, this Court analyzes a traffic stop for Fourth Amendment purposes under the standard articulated in Terry. Couldery v. State, 890 So.2d 959, 962(¶8) (Miss.Ct.App.2004). Under Terry, a detention is lawful if the officer "can 'point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant [the search and seizure]." U.S. v. Santiago, 310 F.3d 336, 340 (5th Cir.2002). Terry requires "a two-tiered reasonable suspicion inquiry: 1) whether the officer's action was justified at its inception, and 2) whether the search or seizure was reasonably related in scope to the circumstances that justified the stop in the first place." Grant, 349 F.3d at 196. In determining the existence of "reasonable suspicion, grounded in specific and articulable facts,' the court must consider whether, taking into account the totality of the circumstances, the detaining officers had a 'particularized and objective basis for suspecting the particular person stopped of criminal activity." Adams v. City of Booneville, 910 So.2d 720, 722(¶ 8) (Miss.Ct.App.2005).

An officer proceeding upon reasonable suspicion may detain a suspect until such time at which reasonable suspicion has been verified or dispelled, at which point the detention must end. *Grant*, 349 F.3d at 196. If, during a proper investigative stop, the officer develops reasonable, articulable suspicion of some criminal activity in addition to that initially suspected, the permissible scope of the stop expands to include the officer's investigation of the newly suspected criminal activity. *U.S. v. Kye Soo Lee*, 898 F.2d 1034, 1040 (5th Cir.1990). Thus, in *Kye Soo Lee*, an officer who legally stopped individuals for traffic violations was justified in further detaining the individuals when, within the legal scope of the traffic stop, the officer observed circumstances that created a reasonable suspicion of additional criminal activity. Id.

The trial court correctly determined that Wade was not unlawfully detained during the few minutes of time it took for the canine to arrive and "alert" to drugs in the vehicle.

Once Sensengey determined the tag was valid he had a reasonable period of time in which to check Wade's driver's license, car insurance, rental agreement and run a criminal history. See *Dortch*, 199 F.3d 199F at 198 (5th Cir.1999). Senseney

testified that while in his patrol car he began to question Wade regarding his travel. Wade gave inconsistent answers about where he had been and the condition of his "dying uncle." Specifically, when asked about where he was coming from, Wade stated, "Where did I tell you I was coming from?" When asked again about his uncle, Wade stated he was fine. At the point in time Senseney received Wade's criminal history, Sensengey developed reasonable suspicion, grounded in specific and articulable facts, that Wade was involved in additional criminal activity. T. 5-14; 90-7.

Senseney testified that he had over fourteen years experience in law enforcement. Based upon that training and experience, the heavy odor of air fresheners, the placement of the air fresheners on the vents, the religious items, the military dog tags, Wade's inconsistent statements, the rental agreement, and Wade's criminal past, Senseney developed reasonable suspicion that Wade was involved criminal activity associated with illegal drugs and that suspicion warranted further investigation. Id. After Wade denied Senseney's request to search the car, the deputy requested the canine unit. T. 14; 97. When the canine unit alerted to drugs in the car, Senseney's reasonable suspicion developed into probable cause to search the vehicle without a warrant and to legally detain Wade during that search. See Terry v. Ohio, *Illinois v. Caballes*, 543 U.S. 405, 125 S.Ct. 834, 160 L.Ed.2d 842 (2005); *McNeal v. State*, 617 So.2d 999, 1006 (Miss. 1993).

In *Williamson v. State*, 876 So.2d 353 (Miss.,2004) the Mississippi Supreme Court rejected a motion to suppress evidence obtained by a police officer who detained and questioned the defendant without probable cause for an arrest. Quoting *Shannon v. State*, 739 So.2d 468 (Miss.Ct.App.1999), the Court held

Police activity in preventing crime, detecting violations, making identifications, and in apprehending criminals may be divided into three types of action: (1) Voluntary conversation: An officer may approach a person for the purpose of engaging in a voluntary conversation no matter what facts are known to the officer since it involves no force and no detention of the person interviewed; (2) Investigative stop and temporary detention: To stop and temporarily detain is not an arrest, and the cases hold that given reasonable circumstances an officer may stop and detain a person to resolve an ambiguous situation without having sufficient knowledge to justify an arrest; (3) Arrest: An arrest may be made only when the officer has probable cause.

Singletary v. State, 318 So.2d 873, 876 (Miss.1975).

Police officers have the authority to detain a person without actually arresting him for investigatory purposes. *Haddox v. State*, 636 So.2d 1229, 1234 (Miss. 1994). "[G]iven reasonable circumstances an officer may stop and detain a person to resolve an ambiguous situation without having sufficient knowledge to justify an arrest." *Estes v. State*, 533 So.2d 437, 441 (Miss. 1988) (quoting Griffin v. State, 339 So.2d 550, 553 (Miss. 1976)). A reasonable suspicion is all that is required to effectuate a 'stop and frisk'. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968). *Shannon*, 739 So.2d at 471.

Wade's reliance on *Couldery v. State* 890 So.2d 959 (Miss.Ct.App.2004) and *Dortch v. United States*, 199F.3d 193 (5th Cir.1999) is misplaced. *Couldery* is distinguishable from the case sub judice. In *Couldery*, the officer initiated a traffic stop for driving in the left-hand lane on the interstate and listed that as the basis for the citation. The Court concluded that the action of the driver did not constitute a criminal offense- that driving in the left-hand lane of the interstate was not illegal. Therefore, the officer's misapprehension of the law precluded the stop from being valid. However, unlike what occurred in *Couldery*, the stop here was clearly proper and not based upon a mistake of law.

Wade relies on Dortch, 199 F.3d 193 (5th Cir. 1999) for the proposition that the

defendant's Fourth Amendment rights were violated when the detention extended beyond the completion of the computer check. In *Dortch*, the court held the basis for the initial traffic stop had concluded and the officers lacked reasonable suspicion to detain the defendant beyond the scope of issuing the citation. In the case *sub judice*, reasonable suspicion of additional criminal activity existed at the time Senseney issued Wade the warning ticket. Dortch had no criminal history, Wade did. According to Senseney it was lengthy and included a recent arrest in Louisiana on drug charges. T. 10.

Prior to trial a suppression hearing was held, testimony and argument were heard. The State adopts as part of its argument the prosecutor's letter brief submitted in opposition to Wade's motion to suppress. CP 32-5. Senseney conducted a valid traffic stop; he did not detain illegally detain Wade; Senseney had reasonable suspicion of additional criminal activity that warranted further investigation through the use of a drug dog; probable cause to search the car was established when the canine alerted; and the car was legally searched pursuant to established law.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal, the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the verdict and sentence of the trial court.